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BRIEF OF DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL ON RESPA FRAUD ISSUES
FACTS


This complaint grew out of the sale of 63 Sherman Street in Stamford. According to testimony, the property had originally been bought by Capner and Guy Cassamajor as an accommodation to Blitcher Olopherne who had troubled credit. After some years, the Cassamajors decided to transfer title to the property to Olopherne so that the loans associated with it would not appear on their credit reports. Olopherne had somewhat better credit by this time, and could qualify for 90% financing. However, at the agreed upon sale price of $560,000 Mr. Olopherne would still have to bring $56,000 to the closing and he did not have the money. Thus, it was decided to inflate the purchase price to $630,000, allowing Mr. Olopherne to mortgage the property for $567,000. In order to make the numbers work, the required equity investment by Mr. Olopherne of $63,000 was shown on the HUD-1 form as $63,000 in deposit money. While Mr. Olopherne actually prepared and transmitted a check in that amount, it was never a “good” instrument, and has never been cashed. Various parties described it as a way to “make the deal go down” and to “fool the bank.”

Prior to the closing, the Respondent became aware of these facts. When he received the $63,000 check, he was told that it was not backed by sufficient funds and should and could not be cashed. Nevertheless, the Respondent assisted in closing the loan and the transaction went through. Instead of receiving $90,966 as the HUD-1 form showed, the Complainant Cassamajors actually only received $13,000.The next day, the Cassamajors discovered from their accountant that they would be subject to capital gains taxes on the paper profit from the transaction. Recriminations and accusations followed, and this grievance was filed.

Originally, probable cause was found on Rules 1.4 and 1.15. After a hearing, additional probable cause was found on Rules 1.2(d), 1.4, 1.5(b), 1.16(a)(1), 4.1(1), 4.1(2), 8.3 and 8.4(3) and (4). The Reviewing Committee has now asked for simultaneous briefs on the consequences of the Respondent’s conduct vis-à-vis RESPA and related laws and regulations relating to real property and mortgage transactions.
RESPA


The Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act of 1974, commonly known as RESPA was enacted with congressional findings that “significant reforms in…real estate settlement process [were] needed to insure that consumers throughout the Nation are provided with greater and more timely information on the nature and costs of the settlement process and are protected from unnecessarily high settlement charges caused by certain abusive practices that [had] developed in some areas of the country.” 12 U.S.C. § 2601(a). Section 2603(a) of RESPA directed various federal agencies to develop and prescribe “a standard form for the statement of settlement costs which shall be used…as the standard real estate settlement form in all transactions in the United States which involve federally related mortgage loans.” Regulations implementing the legislation are found at 24 C.F.R. 3500 et seq, commonly known as Regulation Z. 24 C.F.R. 3500.8 mandated the use of the present HUD-1 form.

Section 2607(d)(1)-(5) of RESPA provides for various penalties and criminal sanctions for violating section 2607’s prohibition on hidden fees, kickbacks, upcharges and related abusive charges and fees. However, there is no penalty in the rest of the RESPA legislation for non-compliance with its other provisions. 24 C.F.R. § 3500.19 provides that the policy of HUD is that its Secretary would “cooperate with Federal, State or local agencies having supervisory powers over lenders or other persons with responsibilities under RESPA
.” Thus, RESPA-related enforcement  is an area of shared authority among various federal and state criminal authorities and banking and lawyer regulators, including the Connecticut Statewide Grievance Committee. Because mortgage lending involves a national market in mortgage-backed securities, criminal enforcement for mortgage-related fraud is usually through enforcement of federal bank, mail and wire fraud statutes.  In order to understand the crime, it is necessary to understand how this market works. 
COLLATERALIZED MORTGAGE OBLIGATIONS


The national market in securities backed by mortgage obligations began in 1983 when the investment banks Salomon Brothers and First Boston created the first offerings of bonds backed by mortgages. Originally, mortgages were investments made by local banks. Money would be loaned, secured by property. But because these obligations were long-term (often 30 years), the investment was not attractive to investors. However, if many mortgage loans were pooled, they could become the basis for offerings of various types of bonds, offering different maturities and terms, and tradable on the national financial markets. Thus began what is now a multi-trillion dollar mortgage securities industry.


Interests purchased in mortgage loan pools are called tranches, from the French for slice. Different tranches (senior, mezzanine and equity) have different degrees of risk, and thus different degrees of marketability, volatility and risk. Senior tranches have the least risk, and equity tranches are usually unrated and bear the most amount of risk because losses in the loan portfolios are applied in reverse order of priority, exposing junior tranches to the first losses and insulating the senior tranches from risk. Banks and institutional investors often purchase the senior obligations, as they are not only good investments but also satisfy the bank’s community reinvestment mandates. Kelman, Andrew, Mortgage-backed Securities & Collateralized Mortgage Obligations: Prudent CRA Investment Opportunities, Community Investments, March 2002. 

In order to promote investor confidence, virtually all of the mortgage obligations in these CMO’s are insured by one of three federal Government Sponsored Enterprises (GSE’s), Freddie Mac, Fannie Mae and Ginnie Mae. These programs, as well as PMI (Private Mortgage Insurance), have loan to equity ratios and other requirements designed to help them evaluate and manage the risk of the loans. And all of them rely on RESPA/HUD-1 information from the transactions to evaluate and qualify the loans for inclusion in their underwriting programs.

RESPA fraud has become epidemic. Tedeschi, Bob, Fraud Cases are Rising, F.B.I Says, New York Times, 2/14/2007. In some states, RESPA and closing-related fraud has become such a problem that public interest groups have been formed to fight it. See Georgia Real Estate Fraud Prevention and Awareness Coalition website, http://www.grefpac.org/. And the crimes are not victimless. Mortgage fraud deprives worthy borrowers of access to money which is invested in fraudulent transactions, exposes investors in mortgage securities to unanticipated risk, and exposes many borrowers to default and credit ruination.  Dubner, Stephen and Levitt, Steven, Payback Time-A quite exchange of funds lets a family buy a new house and helps the seller get a good price. So why is it illegal?, N.Y. Times, 6/10/2007. 
CRIMINAL PENALTIES

An attorney who knowingly submits false information on a document to a federally insured bank would be subjected to harsh penalties. Federal Law provides that “any person who makes a false statement… to an institution whose accounts are insured by the Federal Depositors Insurance Corporation shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than thirty years, or both.” 18 U.S.C. 1014. In U.S. v. Bobowick, the Federal District Court of Connecticut sentenced Mr. Bobowick to a term of 15 months in federal prison upon conviction of three counts of violation of 18 U.S.C. 1014 for knowing misrepresentation on a loan application. 1998 WL 774229 *1. This term was imposed in spite of the fact that Mr. Bobowick offered extensive assistance to federal investigators. Id.  Similarly, that same court found a one-year sentence appropriate in U.S. v. McLaughlin, where Mr. McLaughlin knowingly falsified only one loan application. 1996 WL 684415 *1. Admittedly, both of these cases involved individuals who falsified information with regard to loans they were receiving themselves, rather than, as here, participating in a fraud that benefited another. But they are illustrative that “fooling the bank” can and does often have serious consequences.
DISCIPLINARY RESPONSES IN OTHER STATES


In In the Matter of James W. Avant, cases S05Y0035 and S05Y0037, a Georgia lawyer voluntarily resigned after a finding in two cases that he had signed HUD-1 Statements in closings that did not accurately reflect the genuine agreement between the parties and contained false information. In The North Carolina State Bar v. Michael L. King and Dumont Stockton, 01 DHC 52, September 30, 2005, attorneys King and Stockton were disbarred for misconduct that included multiple instances of preparing and signing false and incomplete RESPA HUD-1 forms and disbursing funds in a manner different from what appeared on the HUD-1 forms. In Opinion 710, Misrepresenting Purchase Price of Other Material Fact Regarding a Real Estate Transaction, the New Jersey Advisory Committee on Professional Ethics opined that it would be a violation of Rules 1.2(d), 4.1(a) and 8.4(c) (our 8.4(3))for a lawyer to participate in the creation of a false or misrepresentative HUD-1, concluding “(i)t is the lawyer’s duty to see that the true terms of a real estate transaction are disclosed by their clients to the lender and to prevent false and misleading information from becoming available by their acts or omissions to those who, in due course, may purchase the loan.”
CONNECTICUT CRIMINAL AND DISCIPLINARY RESPONSES TO HUD AND BANK FRAUD

In Statewide Grievance Committee v. Morelli, 2000 WL 1868222 *1, the court held that an attorney who provided numerous fraudulent bank statements in connection with mortgage fraud, who was convicted of a violation of 18 U.S.C. 1005 (fraud by bank employee) and who was ordered to serve five months of incarceration and pay more than $300,000 in restitution, would have his license to practice law suspended for two years, ten months. Similarly, in Statewide Grievance Committee v. Griffin, 1996 WL 219601, the court ordered an attorney who was convicted of four counts of 18 U.S.C. 1014 and 18 U.S.C. 2 and was suspended for three years in Massachusetts had his license to practice in Connecticut suspended for a period of three years reciprocally. In Statewide Grievance Committee v. Spirer, 46 Conn. App. 450 (1997), a lawyer who had been convicted of violations of 18 U.S.C. 1344(a)(1) and (a)(2) (federal bank fraud) and 18 U.S.C. 2 (accessory liable as principal in federal fraud) for preparing and certifying false and misleading HUD-1 forms in a mortgage scheme was suspended from the practice of law for 6 months. In Statewide Grievance Committee v. Glass, 46 Conn. App. 472 (1997),the Appellate Court held that a Reprimand was sufficient punishment for RESPA violations resulting in a conviction for a violation of 18 U.S.C. 1014 where a young attorney in the Spirer matter was inexperienced, had consulted a supervising partner about his doubts towards the action, and was largely unaware of the illegality of his actions.  (Note  strong dissenting opinion from Judge Spear questioning the leniency of the penalties in each case, 46 Conn.App. at 466, and 46 Conn.App. at 485.) In Statewide Grievance Committee v. Mercer-Falkoff, 26 Conn. L. Rptr 669, 670 (2000),  an attorney who knowingly certified false documentation for the purpose of procuring a bank loan for a client and was convicted of a violation of 18 U.S.C. 1014 was placed on suspension for a period of thirty-six months and required to pass the ethics portion of the Multistate Bar Exam.  
APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE IN THIS CASE


The record in the present case is clear. The Respondent was fully aware of the nature of the transaction and the fact that the HUD-1 form did not accurately reflect the truth of the transaction. Everyone in the transaction understood that the false HUD-1 was for the purpose of “fooling” the bank in order to allow Mr. Olopherne to obtain a larger loan, 90% of $630,000. And that is exactly what was loaned to him, in reliance on the truth of the RESPA form. 

As this transaction involved on out-of-state mortgage lender, this conduct under Spirer and Glass  was clearly a violation of 18 U.S.C. 1014, 18 U.S.C. 1344 and 18 U.S.C. 2, and probably also implicates other federal wire fraud (18 U.S.C. 1343) and mail fraud(18 U.S.C. 1341) statutes as well as the many violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct that the Respondent has been charged with. 

The only appropriate disposition is the presentment of the Respondent to a judge of the Superior Court for the imposition of serious discipline, either a suspension or disbarment.
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� RESPA specifically imposes various duties and responsibilities on lawyers as well as mortgage brokers, lenders, banks and others.





PAGE  
Office of the Chief Disciplinary Counsel

100 Washington St.

Hartford, CT  06106

Tel: 860-706-5055 Fax: 860-706-5063

